IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

JAN 2 8 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY

CASE NO. 95,3 15 (TFB Case Nos. 98-32,033(1 8B) and 98-32,145(18B)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

VS.

HENRY JOHN MARTOCCT,

| Respondent. |
|-------------|
|-------------|

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

HENRY J. MARTOCCI, Pro Se Florida Bar No. 234206 975 Eyster Blvd., Suite 2-1 Rockledge, FL 32955 Telephone: (321) 639-6530

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Bar was the complainant before the Referee and will be referred to in this brief as "The Florida Bar" or "Bar",

Henry John Martocci was the Respondent before the Referee and will be referred to in this brief as "Respondent" or "Martocci".

References to the transcript in the proceeding before the Referee will be referred to as (T).

The relevant pleadings cited in this brief will be referred to by the name of the pleading.

STATEMENT ON PRINT SIZE

I hereby certify that size and style of the type used in this Brief was Times New Roman (14 point).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar filed its first amended complaint in this matter in two (2) counts, alleging in Count I thereof that Respondent had represented one Francis L. Berger in a dissolution of marriage and child custody action as well as a dependency proceeding in the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit and that attorney Diana Figueroa had represented the wife, Florence Berger in that case.

The Bar alleged that during the course of the proceedings, Respondent had consistently made remarks designed to belittle and humiliate the opposing party, Ms. Berger as well as her attorney.

The Florida Bar alleged that the alleged conduct on the part of the Respondent had constituted conduct in violation of Rule_4-8.4(d) of the disciplinary rules by engaging in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration ofjustice, including to knowingly or through callous indifference disparage, humiliate or discriminate against litigants, jurors, witnesses, court personnel or other lawyers on any basis, including but not limited to on account of race, ethnicity, gender, religion, national origin, disability, marital status, sexual orientation, age, socio-economic status, employment or physical characteristic.

Tn Count II of its complaint, the Bar alleged that Respondent, during a recess in court proceedings on May 8, 1998 had engaged in a confrontation with one James Paton, the maternal grandfather of the children who were the subject of the dependency proceedings at that hearing and had threatened Mr. Paton with physical harm and that during the course of that incident, Respondent had upon Ms. Figueroa's intervention, informed her that she should "go back to Puerto Rico", the Bar having alleged that such conduct was also in violation of the

provisions of Rule 4-8.4(d) of the disciplinary rules.

Respondent in his answer to the Bar's First Amended Complaint denied all of the allegations contained therein and made certain affirmative allegations with regard to the alleged incidents.

On October 27, 1999 following a three (3) day hearing which had been held on September 21, 1999 through September 23, 1999 the Referee issued her report finding that during the course of the proceedings in the Berger matter, Respondent had made remarks designed to belittle and humiliate the opposing party and her attorney.

The Referee acknowledged that the Berger matter was clearly a difficult case and a cause of frustration for all parties involved including the judges who have presided over the case and finally recommended that the Respondent be found guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(d) of the disciplinary rules by engaging in threatening behavior and derogatory remarks to Mr. Paton and by directing an ethnic slur to Ms. Figueroa and for engaging in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice by knowingly or through callous indifference disparaging, humiliating or discriminating against litigants, jurors, witnesses, court personnel or other lawyers on any basis.

The Referee noted that Martocci is an able advocate for his client and has a

reputation for such and indicated that Respondent is sixty-two (62) years of age and had been admitted to the Florida Bar on July 1, 1977 and that no prior disciplinary convictions or disciplinary measures had been imposed upon Respondent.

The Referee recommended that Respondent be given a public reprimand as well as a two (2) year period of probation upon certain conditions including evaluations for mental health and anger management and if treatment is recommended, the act of participation therein by Respondent, the Referee having furthermore found that Respondent should bear the Bar's costs in the preliminary amount of five thousand one hundred eighty seven dollars and sixty-two cents (\$5,187.62).

Respondent timely filed a Petition in this Court for review of the Referee's Report and Recommendations.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The alleged incidents referred to in the Florida Bar's Amended Complaint as well as Respondent's Answer took place during the time while actions were pending involving Florence Berger, one of the complainants as well as Respondent's client, Florence Berger having received a restraining order around March of 1996 at the time that Mr. Berger had left the marital dwelling and he

having filed an action for dissolution of marriage in April of 1996 (T 133).

Thereafter and in July or August of 1996, Florence Berger made allegations to the Department of Children and Families with regard to alleged improper sexual contact between Mr. Berger and their daughter, E. B. (T 139-141), Mrs. Berger having denied initially that she had made such allegations to the department and having stated that she did not recall how the allegations had been reported since it had been almost four (4) years since the allegations but then indicated that she believes that she reported it but that she does not remember the circumstances surrounding said allegations.

Mrs. Berger, testifying before the Referee in this grievance proceeding also indicated that charges of theft had been leveled against Mr. Berger in August of 1996 with the Satellite Beach Police Department and that she had spoken to her then attorney about that matter and that he had told her to contact the police. Ms. Berger on cross examination is asked if it was not she who contacted the police department about a tennis ball machine, tubing, piping, computers and other items and that Mr. Berger had been served at Rockwell causing him to lose his job and she indicates that she did not do all that, the state having at a later time nolle prossed all of the felonies and having accepted a plea of no contest with an adjudication withheld with regard to the tennis ball machine, the state having

originally filed seven (7) felony charges. (T 134-138).

Doris Rago, a real estate broker upon whose testimony the Referee relied with regard to her findings of fact concerning the alleged confrontation at that time, testified that she had been hired by Florence Berger and that Mr. Berger did not have his own listing agent, (T 87-89), the hearing before the court having been with regard to the Court's approval of a contract for sale which had been procured by Ms. Rago with regard to the Berger marital dwelling.

Doris Rago does not remember exactly what Respondent was saying (T 90) but thinks that Respondent had called Florence Berger a nut case, it having been so long ago that she does not remember exactly (T 91).

With regard to the alleged actions of Respondent at the deposition of Cynthia Flachmeir of the Salvation Army Visitation Center, an examination of the deposition transcript thereof (Complainant's Exhibit 2) indicates that the court reporter did not transcribe any alleged statements made by Respondent and complained of by Florence Berger, the only reference to any alleged conduct on the part of Respondent at said deposition having consisted of a self serving statement on the part of Ms. Figueroa on page thirty (30) of the transcript of the Cynthia Flachmeir deposition, to the effect that "I am going to object to Mr. Martocci's inappropriate facial expressions, and also remarks ...".

However, Ms. Figueroa does not indicate at that time just what allegedly inappropriate facial expressions and/or remarks Respondent had been making and the transcript of the deposition does not indicate any such alleged remarks.

Furthermore, there is absolutely nothing in the deposition transcript of Cynthia Flachmeir which indicates that Respondent had berated Ms. Figueroa in front of her client during the course of that deposition in any manner whatsoever including his having allegedly indicated that she had needed to go back to school and that she had not known the law or the rules of procedure.

Furthermore, there is no indication in the testimony of Florence Berger (T **99407)** (T **120-180)** or in the testimony of Diana Figueroa (T 229-324) which would indicate any specific remarks allegedly made by Respondent during the course of Cynthia Flachmeir's deposition.

With regard to the alleged incident at the deposition of Dr. Jeffrey
Williamson concerning the telephone call by Ms. Figueroa to Pamela Walker, who
is Judge Richardson's judicial assistant the Referee found that Respondent had
grabbed the telephone out of Ms. Figueroa's hand and yelled a profanity more
specifically, the word "bitch."

Pamela Walker is asked by Bar counsel if she had ever heard Respondent utter the word "bitch" over the telephone to Pam Walker and Ms. Walker did not

answer the question at which point Bar counsel asked Ms. Walker if she had ever heard Respondent use the word "bitch" over the telephone, Pam Walker having indicated that she had heard his voice in the background and that Respondent had never offered her an apology for uttering the word "bitch" (T 78-80).

On cross examination, Pamela Walker agrees that Respondent had not been speaking to her but that Pam Walker had been talking to Diana Figueroa (T 80).

Ms. Walker was asked if she had in fact terminated the telephone conversation with Ms. Figueroa by having hung up the phone after having told Ms. Figueroa that the Judge was not available and she says that she does not know if she hung up the telephone; she does not remember and has never heard Respondent refer to Pam Walker as a "bitch" (T 80-81).

Diana Figueroa, upon whose testimony the Referee also relied for her findings in this regard testified to the effect that following the deposition of Jeffrey Williamson, she was on the phone with Pam Walker and that the Respondent had wanted to speak to her or the Judge and had grabbed the phone out of her hand and apparently having not been able to talk to the Judge called Pamela Walker a "bitch" and hung up.

Respondent, upon whose alleged admissions the Referee also relied for her findings in this regard, testified to the effect that he had expressed his annoyance

at being unable to speak to Pam Walker at a time after she had spoken to Diana Figueroa about what they were talking about and Pam Walker, he having hung up the phone, and having said the words "son of a bitch" in a low voice and to no one except himself, in frustration at his having been unable to speak to Pamela Walker (T 408-409).

With regard to the alleged confrontation between Respondent and James Paton, the grandfather of the minor children who are the subject of the underlying proceeding Mr. Paton testified to the effect that he had been in the hallway prior to the recess and that he had walked into the courtroom and stayed behind the banister at the department's counsel table waiting for Ms. Figueroa who was allegedly talking at that time to two or three (2 or 3) different attorneys who were present at that table, Mr. Paton having not known who those attorneys were. (T 183-184).

Mr. Paton then testified to the effect that Respondent and his client were sitting at counsel table on the other side of the courtroom and that Respondent had said "here comes the father of the nut case" whereupon Mr. Paton immediately said to Respondent "if you have something to say, say it to me . . .", Mr. Paton then indicating in his testimony that Respondent had jumped out of his chair with his fists extended and said "I know who you are and I will kick the living shit out of

you and you are nothing but a scrawny runt" and that Respondent had said "I will punch your lights out". (T 184).

Mr. Paton testified to the effect that he had been outside the courtroom and had come back into the courtroom to speak to Ms. Figueroa since he had been sitting in the hallway for seven (7) hours since approximately seven (7) o'clock in the morning (T 189).

Finally, Mr. Paton is asked on cross examination if he is paying his daughter's legal fees and he asks does he have to answer that to which Bar counsel says yes. Mr. Paton is then asked if his payment of legal fees has been in the excess of the sum of thirty thousand dollars (\$30,000.00) at which point the Referee again interferes and says that we do not have to get any more out of this witness (T 197-198).

Respondent testified to the effect that he had in fact said to Mr. Paton "get out of my face this is none of your concern it does not concern you this conversation is between my client and I and the matter does not concern you it concerns your daughter and her children and I am not interested in talking to you." (T 416).

Respondent is asked if it is a fact that he threatened physical harm to Mr.

Paton and Respondent indicates that that is totally and completely untrue,

indicating that Mr. Paton had approached him in an angry manner and had continued to berate Respondent and Francis Berger when all they were doing was looking at the documents that had been faxed to Judge Richardson by Mr. Paton and that Respondent and Mr. Berger were laughing about the statements contained in those documents (T 4 17).

Susan Burr, **an attorney** for the Department of Children and Families who was at the May 8, 1998 hearing testified to the effect that she had heard Respondent and Mr. Paton engage in an exchange of words that had escalated to the point that their voices were raised and that Respondent was on the attorneys side of the bar and that Mr. Paton was on the other side. Ms. Burr furthermore testified that Phyllis Riewe came between the two (2) of them and said "Henry, please stop" at which point Respondent immediately stopped his involvement in the confrontation between he and Mr. Paton (T 222).

Susan Burr is asked if she had heard Respondent threaten harm to Mr. Paton and **she** indicated that she had heard him say that he was going to knock Mr. Paton on his behind although she had already testified that she could not recall what had been said by Mr. Paton or Respondent (T 222-223).

Beverly Goering, a Juvenile Investigator who was present at the hearing on May 8, 1998 testified that she was standing behind the Department of Children

and Families table in the first row and was speaking with Dr. Juanita Baker, a clinical psychologist, she having been chatting with Dr. Baker about unrelated topics; at that point, an elderly man walked up to the same table to her left at which time she did not initially pay much attention but had become aware of a hostile exchange between this gentlemen and Respondent who was sitting at the other counsel table on the other side of the courtroom. Ms. Goering does not know exactly what was said verbatim but had just become aware that the discussion between the two (2) gentlemen was becoming heated at which time she observed the elderly man walk up to the other side of the room behind Respondent. She states that Respondent got up and stood face to face with the man and at some point she recalls an attorney from the department intervening at which time Mr. Paton and Respondent separated from each other (T 109-111).

Ms. Goering testified that at that point following the exchange between Mr. Paton and Respondent, Ms. Figueroa had entered and come in from outside the courtroom, Diana Figueroa having been outside of the courtroom during the entire incident between James Paton and Respondent (T 109-111).

With regard to the Florida Bar's allegation to the effect that Respondent had indicated to Ms. Figueroa "go back to Puerto Rico", Respondent has admitted in the past both at the time of the incident in question on May 8, 1998 before Judge

Richardson as well as at the hearing before the Referee that he had indicated to Diana Figueroa "why don't you go back to Puerto Rico", Respondent having indicated that this remark had not been intended by him to consist of any racial import or to have been a reference to Ms. Figueroa's Hispanic background but rather that Respondent had made such a comment in attempting to indicate that Ms. Figueroa had not known what she had been talking about and had not known any facts concerning the confrontation between Mr. Paton and Respondent, she having been outside of the courtroom during the entire incident.

With regard to the credibility of Florence Berger, Respondent requested that the Referee make a ruling as to the admissibility of the psychological evaluations performed by Dr. Williamson as to which evaluations he had issued reports (T 172-174).

Respondent, arguing in favor of the admissibility of those documents indicated that Dr. Williamson had stated that Ms. Berger has the ability not only to manufacture allegations but to see events as greater than they are and to see everyone as causing her harm and to have a complex to the effect that everyone is against her and to the effect that Ms. Berger fails to see her own role in causing disturbances and in failing to observe her own conduct, Dr. Williamson having indicated that the allegations of abuse made by Ms. Berger against Mr. Berger

were the result of a highly contaminated fiction and that Ms. Berger had spoken to fifty or sixty (50 or 60) different individuals and had had the children speak to those individuals consisting of friends, neighbors, relatives and other individuals and that this idea had become a central focal point of the children's lives, Dr. Williamson having stated his opinion in the Berger matter to the effect that Ms. Berger will never be able to give this up but has a fixation that she may or may not believe now but that it is totally damaging to the children. Respondent furthermore indicates in argument that Judge Lober had indicated after the testimony of Ms. Berger that her testimony was totally incredible and that Ms. Berger was either delusional or obsessed or totally vindictive (T 172- 174). (Court's Exhibits "A" & "B" psychological evaluations)

The Florida Bar through counsel objects to the introduction of the reports of Dr. Williamson and Bob Rice, the Family Court Evaluator as being privileged, the Referee sustaining the objection (T 344-345).

With regard to the credibility of Diana Figueroa, Honorable Jere E. Lober testified to the effect that he had entered an Order on April 8, 1999 (Respondent's Exhibit's 8) denying Ms. Berger's motion to disqualify him from participation in the proceedings underlying this grievance proceeding but recusing himself upon a finding to the effect that Diana Figueroa as counsel for Florence Berger had lied to

him in an official proceeding.

Judge Lober also indicated that he has known Respondent for a period of time in excess of twenty (20) years and that he has had other cases with Respondent both before and after going on the bench and that Respondent and Judge Lober had litigated against each other while each was in private practice (T 374).

Judge Lober is asked if Respondent has ever lacked candor with him or if he ever had any difficulty with anything that Respondent had told him and Judge Lober indicated "not ever, No, not when we practiced and not while I have been on the bench.", Judge Lober also indicating that in any case which Respondent is on, he is going to be well prepared and the case is going to be well presented (T 375376).

Judge Richardson indicated his difficulty with his involvement in the case as arising out of his belief that the department had been less then candid in connection with the progress of this case including without limitation the amended pleadings filed therein by the department, Judge Richardson having indicated that the original petition had included the sexual allegations and that those sexual allegations had then been removed from the petition with the case progressing along, a second amended petition having been filed thereafter which became very

frustrating to the court because the second amended petition reintroduced the sexual allegations against the father once again and had not included any allegations against the mother so that she had been totally removed from the petition at that point in time. Judge Richardson asked the department about that as to whether they intended to exclude the mother and the department's attorneys were surprised and did not realize that by amending the petition excluding the mother they were doing just that (T 388-389).

Judge Richardson felt that the department had lost its objectivity in the Berger case and that the department personnel were really siding with the mother and wife in this situation and felt that the children were going to suffer from all of that which he did not think was right and he certainly did not think it was right for a department case worker to berate the guardian ad litem for his comments to the judge in open court so he made that clear on the record (T 390-391), the protective worker for the department having confronted Douglas Tuttle, a practicing attorney who had voluntarily given his time as a guardian ad litem on this case and the worker having berated him about his report to Judge Richardson with regard to visitation overnight by the father with the minor children.

Judge Richardson in his testimony indicated that he had signed an order on a motion to remove the protective investigator where he denied the motion because it was an executive decision but had expressed his views with regard to the conduct of the protective investigator (T 393-394). (Respondent's Exhibit 9) Shortly thereafter, the department requested that Judge Richardson disqualify himself in the case which he did (T 396).

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