IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED 4 7
DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX
FEB 2 2 2000 3/3
CLERK SUPREME COURT
BY

THE FLORJDA BAR,

V.

Complainant,

Case No. SC953 15

[TFB Case Nos. 199%32,033 (18B) and

199%32,145 (18B)]

HENRY JOHN MARTOCCI,

Respondent.

THE FLORTDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.

Executive Director
The Florida Bar

650 Apalachee Parkway

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300

(904) 561-5600

ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS

Staff Counsel

The Florida Bar

650 Apalachee Parkway

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300

(904) 56 1-5600

ATTORNEY NO. 253847

AND

FRANCES R. BROWN-LEWIS

Bar Counsel

The Florida Bar

1200 Edgewater Drive

Orlando, Florida 32804-63 14

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and will be upheld absent a clear showing that the findings are without any support in the record. The Florida Bar v. Summers, 728 So. 2d 739, 741 (Fla. 1999). Herein, the referee's finding of fact are supported by the record which shows that the Bar proved by clear and convincing evidence that respondent disparaged, humiliated and discriminated against a litigant and opposing counsel and that he verbally threatened a witness in the Berger proceedings, Respondent's conduct violated rule 4-8.4(d) as it is prejudicial to administration ofjustice.

An appeal is not a trial de novo and merely arguing that the referee chose to believe one witness over another is insufficient to overturn the referee's findings. The Florida Bar v. Fredericks, 73 1 So. 2d 1249, 125 1 (Fla. 1999). The referee is in the best position to judge credibility and therefore acts as this court's fact finder. The Florida Bar v. Carricarte, 733 So. 2d 975, 978 (Fla. 1999).

After three days of trial, it was found that throughout his representation of Francis Berger, respondent undertook a campaign to intimidate, degrade, humiliate, and embarrass opposing counsel and the opposing party. The Bar met its burden of proof by presenting letters and deposition transcripts containing respondent's disparaging statements. Numerous witnesses testified of respondent's disparaging

behavior. Should those attorneys who take offense to respondent's admittedly gender and ethnic based "sense of humor" or his "raw, New York sense of humor" (T Vol. III p. 406), or who take offense to some of the little things that slip out of respondent's mouth in the heat of the moment, merely obtain a "bit of a thicker skin ., . [or] pick something else to do for a living" (T Vol. VI pp. 705-706)? The Bar would submit no. Attorneys are the care givers and the ethical and moral heartbeat of our communities. "When it becomes acceptable to make life miserable for your opponent., . when it is acceptable to the court for an attorney to take center stage instead of giving it to the client and his case . . . when common courtesy, good sportsmanship and civility fly out of the window to parts unknown, it is time to stop." Zealous representation of a client does not require contentiousness or combativeness. Lawyers should demonstrate respect for the legal system and for those who serve it. How can the public respect the legal system and lawyers when lawyers show disrespect? Respondent's discriminatory conduct was committed while performing his duties as an attorney in connection with the Berger proceedings. Respondent has ignored the seriousness of his misconduct and has failed to take responsibility for his actions. Rather, he lashes out at everyone else

^{&#}x27;Paula Stephenson, "Aspirational Civility," <u>The Briefs,</u> Orange County Bar Association, 79 (November, 1999), 7.

involved in the Berger proceedings who opposed his client's position. An attorney with his years of experience should be aware that such conduct brings into disrespect the profession and the legal system itself. Respondent's course of conduct warrants nothing less than a public reprimand and probation with the requirement that he undergo an evaluation to determine the most appropriate course of action to be taken so as to ensure that such conduct does not continue in the future. The referee's recommendation as to discipline is supported by the case law and the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

ARGUMENT POXNT I

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD

A referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and will be upheld absent a clear showing that the findings are without any support in the record. Summers, supra, at 741. In order to successfully attack a referee's findings, the party seeking review must demonstrate that there is no evidence in the record to support the findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the referee's conclusions. Carricarte, supra, at 977. The referee herein set forth in her report citations to the record to support her findings of fact. That she chose to believe some witnesses over respondent is not a sufficient basis to prove that her findings lack support in the record, <u>Fredericks</u>, supra, at 1251. It is also insufficient to merely argue that there is contradictory evidence when there is also competent, substantial evidence in the record to support the referee's findings of fact. The Florida Bar v. Schultz, 712 So. 2d 386, 388 (Fla. 1998). This is because a referee is in the best position to judge credibility and therefore acts as this court's fact finder. Carricarte, supra, at 978. An appeal is not a trial de novo and this Court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the referee. The Florida Bar v. Cibula, 725 So. 2d 360, 362 (Fla. 1998).

The record herein includes an abundance of documentary evidence

concerning respondent's behavior toward Ms. Figueroa and Mrs. Berger. Various witnesses testified about respondent's verbal assaults and racial and ethnic insults. Respondent himself admitted to telling Ms. Figueroa to "go back to Puerto Rico" and even admitted at the bench conference before Judge Richardson at the May 8, 1998, hearing in the Berger proceedings that his remark to her was "a form of derogatory statement." (B-Ex. 3 at page 8).

The Bar met the clear and convincing evidentiary standard with respect to the fmding that respondent called Ms. Berger a "nut case." Doris Rago's testimony that respondent called Ms. Berger a "nut case" after a hearing was not unclear nor was she confused about what had transpired. She distinctly recalled that respondent's language toward Mrs. Berger was intimidating (T Vol. I p. 91) and she recalled the term "nut case" without any prompting by counsel (T Vol. I p. 91). She also stated that she had been frightened by respondent's demeanor because he was speaking loudly and he had come within one or two feet of Mrs. Berger and her (T Vol. I pp. 90-91). Ms. Rago's testimony that respondent used the term "nut case" in referring to Mrs. Berger was also supported by the testimony of Dr. Jacqueline Jennette, Dr. Jennette, who holds a master's degree in human relations and management and a doctorate degree in psychology (T Vol. I p. 3 1), clearly recalled that respondent, on more than one occasion, had used the term "nut case" and "crazy" in referring to

Mrs. Berger (T Vol. I pp. 34, 36, 37, 65, 71, 73). Respondent appears to believe his derogatory statements about Mrs. Berger to Dr. Jennette were not prohibited by the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar as Mrs. Berger was not present when the statements were made about her. Whether Mrs. Berger was actually present and heard respondent's insults directed toward her is irrelevant under the requirements of rule 4-8.4(d). The rule simply states that an attorney may not "knowingly, or through callous indifference, disparage . . . litigants [and] witnesses . . . on any basis." Further, the evidence clearly shows that respondent's statements were made about a litigant to a potential witness in the Berger proceedings.

Respondent argues that Dr. Jennette lacked credibility due to the fact that she had filed a grievance against respondent and that Mrs. Berger had hired her services in connection with the dependancy case (T Vol. I p. 50). Clearly the referee evaluated Dr. Jennette's credibility in light of such facts and believed her testimony regarding respondent calling Mrs. Berger a "nut case." Other than his veiled reference to Dr. Jennette's lack of credibility due to the above two facts, respondent does not set forth the reasons he believes Dr. Jennette's testimony was so imprecise or confused that it did not meet the clear and convincing standard. In fact, a review of Dr. Jennette's testimony shows it to be quite clear and precise concerning respondent's repeated use of derogatory language in referring to Mrs. Berger.

Respondent's intimidating and harassing conduct also occurred during the deposition of Cynthia Flachmeier. After he made a statement that "do-do happens," Ms. Figueroa objected to his remarks and his inappropriate facial expressions (B-Ex. 2 at page 30). Ms. Figueroa stated that if respondent's behavior continued, she would stop the deposition. Respondent's reply to Ms. Figueroa was unintelligible to the court reporter. The fact that the court reporter was not able to understand and transcribe respondent's reply to Ms. Figueroa is not clear and convincing evidence that he did not engage in improper behavior. Ms. Figueroa's response to this unintelligible statement was to place on the record that respondent had his mouth open and had made inappropriate suggestions to her which she found offensive (B-Ex. 2 at page 30). Also, what transpired during the deposition was further clarified by the testimony of Mrs. Berger and Ms. Figueroa in the Bar proceeding. Mrs. Berger testified that respondent stuck his tongue out at her and made faces at her, which she reported to Ms. Figueroa (T Vol. I p. 106). In addition, Mrs. Berger testified that respondent whispered to her that she was sick and needed help (T Vol. I p. 106). Ms. Figueroa testified that Mrs. Berger told her respondent had stuck his tongue out at her (T Vol. II pp. 23 1-232). Although at the final hearing respondent argued that he did not engage in such conduct during the deposition, clearly the referee chose to disbelieve him and to believe the testimony of Mrs. Berger and Ms.

Figueroa.

With respect to the encounter between respondent, Ms. Figueroa and Mrs. Berger in the elevator at the courthouse after leaving a hearing in the Berger proceedings, it is true Ms. Figueroa did not testify respondent called her an "idiot" or "stupid." It was Mrs. Berger who testified that respondent used these terms to insult Ms. Figueroa both while they were in the closed elevator and after they had exited the elevator (T Vol. I pp. 122-124). Ms. Figueroa confirmed that respondent verbally insulted her in the elevator (T Vol. IT pp. 240-241). Mrs. Berger also testified that respondent told Ms. Figueroa that she needed to go back to law school because she did not know what she was doing (T Vol. I p. 123) and Ms. Figueroa testified that respondent implied she did not know what she was doing because she had gone to law school in Puerto Rico (T Vol. II p. 240). There was no conflict in the testimony of these two witnesses. Rather, the witnesses recalled different insults. The testimony of both was clear and convincing that respondent entered the elevator and commenced insulting, intimidating and demeaning Ms. Figueroa in front of her client (T Vol. I pp. 122-126; T Vol. II pp. 240-242).

Concerning respondent's use of the word "bitch" while engaged in a legal matter concerning the deposition of Dr. Jeffrey Williamson, the Bar submits it does not matter whether respondent uttered the profanity during the deposition or

afterwards. Respondent uttered it loudly enough that he was clearly heard by the judicial assistant on the other end of the telephone (T Vol. I pp. 79 and 81), opposing counsel (T Vol. II p. 239) and the opposing party (T Vol. I p. 129). Furthermore, the telephone conversation that was ensuing at the time was part of a legal proceeding. Whether or not the deposition had been terminated is not an issue under the requirements of rule 4-8.4(d). Regardless of the identity of the person to whom respondent was directing his profanity, his use of such language during a legal proceeding, especially given the pattern exhibited by him in this case of demeaning opposing counsel and the opposing party, makes such an utterance not just unprofessional but unethical.

Respondent presents no evidence in his brief to support his argument that the referee failed to consider the testimony from respondent's witnesses who cast aspersions on Ms. Figueroa's credibility and veracity and who supported respondent's reputation for honesty and professional ability. Respondent's parade of witnesses against Ms. Figueroa was an unsuccessful attempt to shift the blame for his conduct. Also, the record clearly showed that the referee considered respondent's reputation for honesty and professional ability, At page four of the report (ROR-A4), the referee stated that she noted for the record that respondent was an "able advocate for his client and has a reputation for such." The findings in

the report of Referee are supported by a record which is replete with statements made by respondent which were designed to belittle and humiliate the opposing party and her attorney (R-Ex. 1 at pages 100- 10 1; B-Ex. 5 at pages 37-38; B-Ex. 4 at pages 42, 45 and 46).

POINT II RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT WAS PREJUDICIAL TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE

The referee found that respondent engaged in conduct in the connection of the practice of law that was prejudicial to the administration of justice by disparaging, humiliating or discriminating against a litigant, Mrs. Berger, and her counsel, Ms, Figueroa, by threatening and making derogatory statements to them. Respondent argues that such conduct is not prejudicial to the administration of justice.

Respondent contends that the Bar must show his conduct involved dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation. Nowhere in the rules or the case law are dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation a requirement for finding a violation of rule 4-8.4(d). Respondent's reliance on Berman v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2684 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 1, 1999), The Florida Bar v. Martocci, 699 So. 2d 1357 (Fla. 1997), and The Florida Bar v. Pettie, 424 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1982), is misplaced, In Berman, the Fourth District Court of Appeals was applying this Court's definition of contempt². Berman, supra, at page 2685. Mr. Berman had pounded his fist and yelled "yessss" upon the reading of the verdict and the trial

²Contempt was defined as being any act calculated to embarrass, hinder, or obstruct the administration of justice.

court held him in direct criminal contempt. The appellate court found that Mr. Berman's conduct did not constitute willful, intentional or substantial interference and/or interruption of the orderly conduct of the court's business sufficient to support a finding of direct criminal contempt, where the trial court had not given any prior warnings or explicit directions not to display reactions to the verdict, Berman, supra, at page 2685. The appellate court went on to indicate that it could not conclude from the record that Mr. Berman's behavior tended to hinder the administration of justice or was calculated to cause harm. Further the appellate court indicated that the trial court's factual finding did not establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Berman's conduct, though undignified and unprofessional, was disruptive and harmful to the integrity of the court as such to support a finding of direct criminal contempt. The case deals with direct criminal contempt not and with whether Mr. Berman's conduct would support an ethical violation of rule 4-8.4(d).

Respondent's reliance on <u>Pettie</u>, supra, is also misplaced as <u>Pettie</u> concerned an attorney who engaged in criminal activities not involving the practice of law. This Court found that Mr. Pettie's involvement in a criminal conspiracy to import marijuana did not constitute conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice. Herein, all of respondent's actions occurred in the context of his representation of

Mr. Berger in the dissolution and dependancy actions. Rule 4-8.4(d) clearly applies to an attorney's discriminatory conduct in connection with the practice of law. See comments to rule 4-8.4(d), R. Regulating Fla. Bar.

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